CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

#### Cause No. DA 24-0204

Case Number: DA 24-0204

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

# MARK JOHNSON and MOLLY JOHNSON, Husband and Wife, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

# STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INS. CO. and STATE FARM FIRE AND CASUALTY CO.,

Defendants and Appellees.

On Appeal from the Montana Eleventh Judicial District Court, Flathead County Cause No. DV-15-2019-934-NE, Hon. Dan Wilson

#### APPELLANTS' AMENDED OPENING BRIEF

Judah M. Gersh
Brian M. Joos
VISCOMI, GERSH, SIMPSON & JOOS, PLLP
121 Wisconsin Avenue
Whitefish, MT 59937
T: 406-862-7800

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

- 1. Does an insurer's subrogation program that systematically fails to account for all of an insured's property damage losses and attorney fees before collecting subrogation violate Montana's "made-whole" rule?
- 2. Is a dispute over an insurer's collection of subrogation that leaves the insured with unrecovered losses and/or unreimbursed attorney fees a justiciable controversy?
- 3. Does Johnsons' claim that State Farm wrongfully interfered with their tort claim property interest constitute a damage claim caused by "the handling of an insurance claim" so as to be preempted by §33-18-242(3), MCA?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **Introduction**

This case is modeled on the remedy approved by this Court in *Ferguson v*. *Safeco Ins. Co. of Am.*, 2008 MT 109, 342 Mont. 380, 180 P.3d 1164, when an insurer improperly subrogates before the insured has been made whole.

Despite approval by the *Ferguson* court of this procedure, and despite the firmly established made-whole rule (*Skauge v. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 172 Mont. 521, 565 P.2d 628 (1977) and progeny), the district court dismissed Johnsons' claims on the grounds that there was no justiciable controversy. This

ruling deprived Johnsons of <u>any</u> remedy for the impairment of their third-party tortfeasor claim and for their loss of attorney fees pursuing that claim.

The district court also dismissed made-whole claims for conversion upon a conclusion that subrogation was the "handling" of an "insurance claim" that was preempted by §33-18-242(3), MCA, rather than distinct, post-claim handling conduct that interfered with Johnsons' independent tort and made-whole rights.

#### Factual Background

Molly Johnson was involved in an automobile accident caused by tortfeasor Vanmeter. District Court Record (hereafter "Doc.") Doc. 42 (see Appendix, Tab 3), ¶¶ 6, 17. The car was owned by the Johnsons and insured by State Farm.

In addition to the damage covered by their State Farm policy, Johnsons had other uncovered property losses and a tort action against Vanmeter. State Farm subrogated against Vanmeter and her insurer (GEICO), and collected the full amount it had paid Johnsons, without regard to (a) the impairment of the Johnsons' tort claim and depletion of liability insurance coverage, and/or (b) the attorney fees Johnsons incurred in recovering from the tortfeasor.

As a result, State Farm has paid a net of nothing and has borne no loss under the property damage coverage it was paid a premium to provide. The Johnsons bear the loss of a tort recovery depleted by their attorney fees.

## **Procedural Background**

The original Complaint was filed September 26, 2019. Doc. 1. The case was removed to the United States District Court for the District of Montana by State Farm on May 5, 2020. Doc. 5.

On August 18, 2020, the case was remanded to state court upon State Farm's affirmative contention that the U.S. District Court lacked jurisdiction. Doc. 9.

After remand, Johnsons filed their First Amended Complaint on October 7, 2020. Doc. 10. That pleading mirrored the *Ferguson* form of action against State Farm<sup>1</sup> by seeking a declaratory ruling that, through a systematic program of subrogation without any made-whole determination, State Farm had deprived Johnsons and similarly situated class members of their made-whole rights.

The Honorable Dan Wilson granted State Farm's motion to dismiss the subrogation claims by finding that the First Amended Complaint failed to plead sufficient facts to demonstrate that Johnsons were not (or would not be) made whole. Doc. 33 (See Appendix, Tab 1). That ruling also dismissed Johnsons' claim based on the legal theory of conversion.

The Johnsons then moved for the district court's leave to file a Second Amended Complaint (Doc. 34) that detailed the amount of property losses,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The First Amended Complaint also asserted a claim against State Farm for UIM benefits and brought a negligence action against the tortfeasor, Britanie Vanmeter.

attorney fees and subrogation. Judge Wilson denied leave to file the pleading upon the conclusion that the additionally pled facts did not cure the problem because it still was unknown what total amount Johnsons would <u>eventually</u> recover from the tortfeasor and her liability insurer:

The defect is that the Johnsons' allegations, taken as a whole and taken as true, cannot establish that State Farm's exercise of its subrogation right caused the deprivation of the Johnsons' right to be made whole for their (so-far) uncompensated losses and injuries from other available sources of recovery.

Doc. 38 at p.3 (emphasis added, see Appendix, Tab 2).

The Johnsons applied for a writ of supervisory control. This Court denied the writ on the grounds that the pleadings did not establish the recoveries Johnsons might eventually recover from Vanmeter and her insurer or how a *preliminary* assertion of subrogation would affect the amount Johnsons *ultimately* would recover:

Whether under the facts alleged in their first amended complaint, or in their proposed second amended complaint, Johnsons have not demonstrated here how State Farm's *mere preliminary assertion* of the *future right* to subrogation for the property loss compensation it previously paid to Johnsons *has already reduced, or necessarily will reduce*, the amount of compensation that they will ultimately be entitled to recover.

Johnson v. Mont. Eleventh Judicial Dist. Court (2021), 407 Mont. 440, 500 P.3d 581, p. 7 (emphasis added).

This uncertainty about future recoveries was thereafter resolved when Johnsons settled with Vanmeter and her insurer. Doc. 42, ¶2 (see Appendix, Tab 3). The case was settled for a total of \$26,618 through a settlement agreement and release that did not apportion the payment between bodily injury and property damage. Doc. 42, ¶31. Vanmeter's insurance limits were \$25,000 for bodily injury and \$20,000 for property damage. *Id.* While Vanmeter's property damage limits were not exhausted by State Farm's and Johnsons' property damage, Johnsons have not received *any* of their \$8,906 in attorney fees expended for seeking uncovered losses from Vanmeter. *Id.*, ¶34.

Vanmeter was then dismissed from the case (Docs. 43 and 45) and Johnsons filed (upon stipulated leave) a Third Amended Complaint (hereafter "TAC"). That pleading alleged "[t]he suit against Vanmeter has been settled and has been dismissed with prejudice (Doc. 42, ¶2), and that State Farm had subrogated "without any payment of attorney fees" (Doc. 42, ¶53) which necessarily reduced the Johnson's net recovery from the Vanmeter settlement.

State Farm then again moved to dismiss the TAC's made-whole claims.

Doc. 46. The district court granted State Farm's motion. Doc. 54 (see Appendix, Tab 4). That order also reaffirmed the dismissal of Johnsons' conversion claim.

These are the rulings challenged by this appeal. As a result of the dismissal of Ferguson-type claims, only the underinsured case remained.

Johnsons and State Farm then settled the underinsured claim and the district court dismissed it as fully settled upon the merits. Doc. No. 57. The district court had previously dismissed the *Ferguson*-type claims in the TAC. Thus, all claims in the case had been fully and finally addressed and the district court entered Final Judgment. Doc. No. 60.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Molly Johnson was involved in an automobile accident on November 2, 2017, caused by tortfeasor Vanmeter. Third Amended Complaint ("TAC") Doc.42, at ¶¶ 6, 17. The vehicle was owned by Molly Johnson and her husband, Mark Johnson, and was insured by State Farm.

The Johnsons made a claim under their collision coverage for property damages sustained in the accident. That collision coverage insurance claim was fully resolved, and the Johnsons have pled that they do not contend "their collision coverage claim was improperly handled." TAC, Doc.42 at ¶48.

The Johnsons had additional property losses and bodily injury not covered by their State Farm policy. They therefore presented a tort claim against Vanmeter and her insurer. State Farm subrogated against Johnsons' third-party tort cause of action to recover property damage amounts it had "paid under the collision and rental coverages of [Johnson's] policy with State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co." *Id.* ¶5.

State Farm did so "without notifying (Johnsons) of the insureds' right to be made whole" and proceeded to collect and convert to its own use the full amount of the property damage payments State Farm had made to (Johnsons)." *Id.* ¶37.

From the subrogation recovery, State Farm reimbursed Johnsons' deductible but "made no determination that the insured was or could be made whole for the uncovered property damage and without any payment of the attorney fees [State Farm] knew would have to be incurred" by Johnsons to recover from their suit against Vanmeter. *Id.* ¶53.

The TAC alleges the effect of State Farm's subrogation. The settlement with GEICO constituted the exhaustion of GEICO's "policy limits" of "\$25,000" for "bodily injury," and the payment of \$1,618 for uncovered property losses (in addition to the vehicle damage previously paid to State Farm). *Id.* ¶59

Finally, the TAC establishes that the Johnsons incurred fees and costs in recovering the additional \$1,618 (TAC, at ¶33), and that these fees were not recovered (*Id.* at ¶36) and could not be recovered (*Id.* at ¶10) from Vanmeter or GEICO. State Farm did not pay any fee expense and did not adjust its subrogation to account for the attorney fee element of Johnsons' made-whole rights. *Id.* at ¶53.

The TAC alleges State Farm's subrogation conduct was done as part of a program of "systematic subrogation procedures" that "do not require that presentation of the subrogation claim, or collection thereon be held in abeyance

until the insured has first collected uncompensated property damage losses [and] been reimbursed for her costs of collection, including attorney fees." *Id.* ¶59. *See also* ¶57:

[State Farm's] systematic procedures for pursuit and collection of subrogation do not address the insured's attorney fee and collection expense for the insured's recoveries from the motor vehicle accident tortfeasor and the tortfeasor's liability insurer, nor do they address damages that are not covered by the first party portions of the insurance policy.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of appellate review for dismissal of a complaint for lacking justiciability is *de novo*. "Issues of justiciability -- such as standing, mootness, ripeness, and political question -- are questions of law, for which our review is *de novo*. *Reichert v. State*, 2012 MT 111, ¶ 20, 365 Mont. 92, 278 P.3d 455." *Chipman v. Nw. Healthcare Corp.*, 2012 MT 242, ¶16, 366 Mont. 450, 288 P.3d 193.

The standard of appellate review for dismissal of a complaint for lack of subject matter jurisdiction is *de novo*, and affirmance requires that there be no possible set of facts which would present a justiciable claim for relief:

The question of whether a district court properly granted a motion to dismiss is a conclusion of law which we review to determine if the court's interpretation and application of the law is correct." [citation] ... A motion to dismiss should be construed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party and should not be granted unless it appears beyond a doubt that the non-moving party can prove no set of facts in

support of its claim which would entitle it to relief." Bradley v. Crow Tribe of Indians, 2003 MT 82, ¶ 12, 315 Mont. 75, ¶ 12, 67 P.3d 306, ¶ 12 (citations and quotations omitted).

Pub. Lands Access Ass'n, Inc. v. Jones, 2008 MT 12, ¶ 9, 341 Mont. 111, 176 P.3d 1005 (emphasis added).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

A subrogation program that fails to account for all of an insured's property damage losses and attorney fees before collection violates Montana's "madewhole" rule because that rule requires that an insurer's use of its insured's claim must be subordinated to the insured's right to be made "whole" for all losses and the legal expense of recovering those losses. The rationale of the rule is that it would be inequitable for the insured to pay a net of nothing for a loss it was paid to insure while its insured bore an unrecovered loss.

Johnsons have presented a justiciable dispute over State Farm's subrogation because that collection was premature, done without the requisite made-whole "determin[ation]," and left Johnsons with an impaired claim and a concrete loss of attorney fees, while State Farm recovered all of the losses it was paid a premium to insure.

The claim that State Farm has wrongfully interfered with Johnsons' property interest in their tort claims is not preempted by §33-18-242(3), MCA. First, this statute does not address or eliminate the court's power to provide procedural relief

for violation of substantive duties. Second, the Johnsons' claims are not "claims handling" because they seek to enforce the distinct duties that attach when an insurer undertakes conduct of asserting and collecting subrogation under its insured's claim against the third-party tortfeasor, after the handling and full resolution of the Johnsons' insurance claim against State Farm. Third, the conversion claim is for a wrong that is independent of claim handling.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. JOHNSONS' PLEADING ASSERTS FACTS WHICH, IF TRUE, ESTABLISH THAT STATE FARM'S PROGRAMMATIC SUBROGATION VIOLATED THE "MADE-WHOLE" RULE AND DEPRIVED THE JOHNSONS OF THEIR MADE-WHOLE RIGHTS IN KNOWN, CONCRETE MONETARY AMOUNTS.
  - a. Montana's Made-Whole Rule Requires that an Insurer's Use of its Insured's Claim Must be Subordinated to the Insured's Right to be Made "Whole" for All Losses and the Legal Expense of Recovering Against the Tortfeasor.

This case presents the question of whether Johnsons have pled a justiciable claim for relief for State Farm's systematic violation of Montana's "made-whole" rule in its subrogation program. The first issue is whether the TAC pleads a systematic violation of the made-whole rule when State Farm asserted and collected subrogation under Johnsons' tort claim.

The made-whole rule was first articulated by this Court in *Skauge v*.

Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co., 172 Mont. 521, 565 P.2d 628 (1977). This Court

held that, for equitable reasons, an insurer was not allowed to pursue subrogation until the insured had been made whole for all damages *and* the attorney fees expended in the collection of those damages:

The basic rationale for this rule, in either of the two categories, is best stated in *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. W. P. Rose Supply Co., supra*, 198 S.E.2d at 484:

"\* \* \* When the sum recovered by the Insured from the Tortfeasor is less than the total loss and thus either the Insured or the Insurer must to some extent go unpaid, the loss should be borne by the insurer for that is a risk the insured has paid it to assume." (Emphasis supplied.)

Again, we note, the doctrine of legal subrogation is applied to subserve the ends of justice and to do equity in the particular case under consideration. *Bower v. Tebbs, supra.* 

For these reasons we adopt the view that when the insured has sustained a loss in excess of the reimbursement by the insurer, the insured is entitled to be made whole for his entire loss and any costs of recovery, including attorney's fees, before the insurer can assert its right of legal subrogation against the insured or the tortfeasor.

Skauge v. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co., 172 Mont. 521, 528, 565 P.2d 628, 632 (1977) (emphasis added in part).

For more than 45 years, this Court has consistently reaffirmed the above rule and specifically held that, when the insured has sustained a loss "in excess of the reimbursement by the insurer," the insured must also be made whole for "any costs of recovery, including attorney's fees" (*Skauge*, *supra*.) before the insurer can recover on a subrogation right.

For example, in *DeTienne Assocs*. *Ltd. P'ship v. Farmers Union Mut. Ins*.

Co., 266 Mont. 184, 191, 879 P.2d 704, 709 (1994), an insured (Park Plaza) sustained property damage when a train derailment caused a power outage that resulted in frozen and burst pipes. Park Plaza's insurer (FUMI) covered some of losses under its' policy but other property losses were not covered. FUMI and Park Plaza each brought actions against the railroad to recover their respective interests in the property damage losses and, following a consolidation of the actions, the court "ordered MRL to pay \$411,155 to FUMI for the money it had paid Park Plaza and \$122,441 to Park Plaza for the damages sustained *over and above the policy limits* of the FUMI policy." *Id.* at 266 Mont. at 187, 879 P.2d at 706 (emphasis added).

The sole issue on appeal was whether, before subrogation, the insurer had to account for the insured's attorney fees incurred in recovering the losses not covered by the FUMI policy. FUMI argued that its subrogation right should not be reduced by the insured's recovery expenses. This Court ruled that argument was inconsistent with the *purpose* of the made whole rule:

That purpose is not to ensure that the risk-taker, the insurer, be compensated for all money it paid to policy holders ...

. . .

We determined in *Skauge* that in a situation where the sum recovered by the insured from the tortfeasor is less than the total loss and thus, either the insured or the insurer must to some extent go unpaid, the loss

should be borne by the insurer for that is a risk the insured has paid it to assume. *Skauge*, 172 Mont. at 528, 565 P.2d at 632. Likewise, we held in Skauge that when the insured has sustained a loss in excess of the reimbursement by the insurer, the insured is entitled to be made whole for its entire loss and any costs of recovery, including attorney fees, before the insurer can assert its right of legal subrogation against the insured or the tortfeasor. *Skauge*, 172 Mont. at 528, 565 P.2d at 632.

. . .

To do otherwise would mean that the insured looses money (money paid for litigation of excessive damage plus money paid as premiums to insurer) and the insurer gains by such a financial arrangement (insurer has received premiums plus has been fully recompensed for money it paid to the insured). In *Skauge* we determined that such a state of affairs is akin to *unjust enrichment* and *is not equitable*.

DeTienne, 266 Mont. at 189-90, 192 879 P.2d at 707-08,709 (emphasis added).

This rule and rationale assuring the insured is made whole for her attorney fee expended in securing *uncovered* losses has consistently been reaffirmed in every succeeding subrogation case before this Court. *See e.g., Swanson v. Hartford Ins., Inc.*, 2002 MT 81, ¶24, 309 Mont. 269, 46 P.3d 584 ( "the insured [must] recover all of her losses [and] *also all costs of recovery as well*, such as *attorney fees* and costs of litigation"); *Ferguson v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Am.*, 2008 MT 109, ¶5, 342 Mont. 380, 180 P.3d 1164 ("*unrecovered losses including her ... attorney fees*"); *Diaz v. State*, 2013 MT 331, ¶11, 372 Mont. 393, 396–97, 313 P.3d 124, 127 ("all loss suffered"); *Van Orden v. United Servs. Auto. Ass 'n*, 2014 MT 45, 374 Mont. 62, 318 P.3d 1042, ¶¶12-13("made whole for his entire loss and any costs of recovery, *including attorney's fees*, before the insurer can assert its right of legal

subrogation"); *State v. Lodahl*, 2021 MT 156, ¶ 19, 404 Mont. 362, 491 P.3d 661, 667("made whole for his entire loss *and any costs of recovery, including attorney's fees*").

The inequity of an insurer recovering everything it had been paid a premium to cover while leaving the insured to suffer loss is further amplified by the fact that subrogation is a use of *the insured's claim*. Such use presents the problem that subrogation depletes the available amount of the tortfeasor's liability insurance placing the tortfeasor's insurer at lesser risk when fighting the remaining property damage claim.

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