IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MONTANA
DA 24-0204

MARK JOHNSON and MOLLY JOHNSON, Husband and Wife,
individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,
Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY
and STATE FARM FIRE AND CASUALTY COMPANY,
Defendants/Appellees.

On Appeal from the Montana Eleventh Judicial District Court,
Flathead County, Cause No. DV-15-2019-0000934-NE
Honorable Dan Wilson

APPELLEES' BRIEF

APPEARANCES

Dale R. Cockrell
MOORE, COCKRELL,
GOICOECHEA & JOHNSON, P.C.
145 Commons Loop, Suite 200
Kalispell, MT 59904-0370
T: 406-751-6000
F: 406-756-6522
dcockrell@mcalaw.com

Jennifer M. Hoffman, Cal. Bar No.
240600 (*pro hac vice*)

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court correctly applied Montana law and the law of this case in finding that the Johnsons failed to allege a justiciable claim for violation of the “made whole” rule.

To state a justiciable claim here, the Johnsons were required to plead facts supporting that State Farm’s subrogation recovery for its property damage payment from GEICO reduced, or necessarily would have reduced, the amount of compensation the Johnsons could recover for their uncovered losses. The Johnsons did not, and could not, allege such facts. Instead, the facts are the opposite. The Johnsons conceded that more than enough property limits remained under Ms. Vanmeter’s GEICO policy to satisfy all of their uncovered property losses.

That the Johnsons later settled their claim against Ms. Vanmeter for less than they purportedly wanted conflicts with their factual allegations and, even if true, constitutes a self-inflicted injury not attributable to State Farm. The same is true of the Johnsons’ uncovered and unrecoverable attorneys’ fees. The Johnsons cannot recover their attorneys’ fees because Montana adheres to the American Rule on attorneys’ fees, not because of any conduct of State Farm.

Because the Johnsons failed to allege a justiciable claim against State Farm, this Court need not and should not reach their merits arguments regarding the applicability of the “made whole” rule or the extent of preemption under § 33-18-242(3), MCA. The Johnsons also failed to raise and preserve their new preemption arguments below, which separately bars consideration on this appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Correctly Found Under Montana Law and the Order that the Johnsons Failed to Allege a Justiciable Claim for Violation of the “Made Whole” Rule

“The judicial power of Montana’s courts, like federal courts, is limited to ‘justiciable controversies.’” *Moody’s Market, Inc. v. Montana State Fund*, 2020 MT 217, ¶ 16, 401 Mont. 168, 471 P.3d 68, (internal citation omitted) (affirming dismissal for lack of justiciable controversy). Montana’s Constitution “embodies the same limitations as are imposed on federal courts by the ‘case or controversy’ language of Article III.” *Plan Helena, Inc. v. Helena Regional Airport Authority Board*, 2010 MT 26, ¶ 6, 355 Mont. 142, 226 P.3d 567; *Seubert v. Seubert*, 2000 MT 241, ¶ 17, 301 Mont. 382, 13 P.3d 365 (“The constitutional provision in Article VII, Section 4 of the Montana Constitution which extends original jurisdiction of a district court to ‘cases at law and in equity,’ has been interpreted as embodying the same limitations as those imposed on federal courts by the Article III ‘case or controversy’ provision of the United States Constitution.”). “Accordingly, federal

precedents interpreting the Article III requirements for justiciability are persuasive authority for interpreting the justiciability requirements” under Montana law. *Plan Helena*, at ¶ 6.

Because justiciability “transcends” other issues, this Court reviews threshold issues of justiciability, including standing, ripeness and mootness, before reaching any other issue. *Plan Helena*, ¶¶ 11-13.

As the Court, the District Court and the United States District Court have all recognized, to allege a justiciable claim for violation of the “made whole” rule here, the Johnsons must allege facts supporting that State Farm’s assertion of subrogation “reduced, or necessarily will reduce, the amount of compensation that they will ultimately be entitled to recover for any element of damages from the third-party tortfeasor/GEICO and/or under their own UIM coverage.” (Dkt. 40, p. 4) (citing *Van Orden*, ¶¶ 21-25); (Dkt. 33, p. 18-19); *Johnson*, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 149096, *4, 2020 WL 4784692, *2 (D. Mont. Aug. 18, 2020).³

To meet that standard here, the Johnsons needed to allege facts supporting that “the amount of their damages resulting from their collision with Vanmeter exceeds the total amount of their potential sources of recovery and ... that State Farm’s subrogation caused such a shortfall.” (Dkt. 33, p. 18-19); (Dkt. 40, p. 4); *Johnson*,

³ The Johnsons characterized *Van Orden* as “unusual” and somehow inapplicable to this case in their briefing to the District Court even after this Court relied on it in the Order. (Dkt. 49, p. 8 & fn. 5). They have abandoned that claim on appeal.

2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 149096, *4, 2020 WL 4784692, *2 (Aug. 18, 2020); *Chandler v. State Farm Mutual Ins. Co.*, 598 F.3d 1115 (9th Cir. 2010); *James Lee Constr., Inc. v. Gov't Emps. Ins. Co.*, 478 F.Supp.3d 1057, 1061-1062 (D. Mont. 2020). In the words of this Court in *Van Orden*, the Johnsons only needed to allege facts supporting that State Farm potentially “[took] money out of [the Johnsons’] pocket” by obtaining a subrogation recovery from Ms. Vanmeter’s insurer that could have been used to satisfy the Johnsons’ remaining claims against her, and left Ms. Vanmeter with insufficient assets to satisfy those claims. *See, e.g., Van Orden*, ¶ 21. Absent that causal connection between State Farm’s conduct and the Johnsons’ alleged harm, the Johnsons’ claims for violation of the “made whole” rule are purely “academic.” *Moody’s Mkt.*, ¶ 17.

The Johnsons could not allege those minimal facts after four attempts, and the record below now demonstrates that they never can. The Johnsons concede that they settled their claim for uncovered property damage against Ms. Vanmeter for less than her available GEICO property limits.⁴ (RT 2/7/23, p. 45:9-11). The Johnsons also admit that Ms. Vanmeter’s GEICO policy had more than enough remaining limits to settle the Johnsons’ entire claim for uncovered property damage, even

⁴ The Johnsons have also settled their bodily injury claim against both Ms. Vanmeter/GEICO and State Farm for less than the available UIM limits. (Dkt. 56, 58). Because those funds were never available to settle the Johnsons’ property damage claim, they are not pertinent to the justiciability inquiry here. *Van Orden*, ¶¶ 17, 21; (Dkt. 40, p. 4).

assuming the Johnsons' claim for the first time at oral argument that they "wanted" about \$400 or \$500 more from Ms. Vanmeter. (RT 2/7/23, pp. 9:13-19, 45:9-11). The District Court correctly determined, based on Montana law and the Order that "the law does not provide a justiciable claim" in these circumstances. (Dkt. 54, pp. 8-9).

II. The District Court Correctly Applied the Causation Requirement in Montana's Threshold Justiciability Inquiry

The Johnsons previously argued to this Court that, in dismissing their "made whole" claims as nonjusticiable, the District Court added a new "causation element" unsupported by Montana law. This Court correctly rejected that argument. (Dkt. 40, Order, p. 4 fn. 4). The Johnsons now attempt to avoid causation entirely, by first arguing the merits of their "made whole" claims and later discussing justiciability without mentioning causation. Appellants' Opening Brief ("Appellant's Op. Br."), pp. 10-32. They employed the same tactics below, which the District Court correctly rejected. (Dkt. 33, p. 14).

A. The Johnsons Cannot Sidestep Justiciability by Arguing the Merits

The Johnsons contend that "[t]he first issue" in the justiciability inquiry "is whether the TAC pleads a systematic violation of the 'made-whole' rule" (Appellants' Op. Br., p. 10). They are wrong.

Justiciability is a threshold issue that precedes any question of substantive law, including whether the Johnsons alleged a cognizable liability theory. *Plan*

Helena, ¶¶ 11-13. As this Court has repeatedly explained: “Whether an asserted claim is facially sufficient to state a cognizable claim entitling the claimant to relief on the facts pled ‘is a question of substantive law on the merits’ rather than a threshold issue of subject matter jurisdiction or related justiciability.” *Gottlob v. DesRosier*, 2020 MT 210, ¶ 9, 401 Mont. 50, 470 P.3d 188 (citation omitted); *Larson v. State By and Through Stapleton*, 2019 MT 28, ¶ 19, 394 Mont. 167, 434 P.3d 241 (“Apart from threshold considerations of subject matter jurisdiction and justiciability, a complaint must also state a substantively cognizable claim for relief. [citation] Whether a complaint states a cognizable claim for relief is a question of substantive law on the merits rather than a threshold jurisdictional issue.”).

Montana courts also adhere to the rule that liberality in pleading must be “tempered by the necessity that a justiciable controversy exists before courts exercise jurisdiction.” *Murray v. Motl*, 2015 MT 216, ¶¶ 12-13, 380 Mont. 162, 354 P.3d 197 (affirming District Court’s dismissal of declaratory relief claim under liberally-construed UDJA for lack of a justiciable controversy); *Northfield Ins. Co. v. Montana Ass’n v. Counties*, 2000 MT 256, ¶¶ 10-14, 301 Mont. 472, 10 P.3d 813 (affirming dismissal of claims against insurer as nonjusticiable, reasoning that “a justiciable controversy cannot exist based on hypothetical facts and abstract propositions”).

Thus, to even reach the question of whether a complaint alleges a cognizable claim for relief, the Court must first find that the claim is justiciable. *North Star Dev. LLC v. Mont. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 2022 MT 103, ¶¶ 21-25, 408 Mont. 498, 510 P.3d 1232 (District Court's failure to consider affirmative defenses pleaded in complaint in dismissing suit not error where claims were not justiciable); *Plan Helena*, ¶¶ 11-13.

Because this appeal turns on whether the Johnsons alleged justiciable claims, not cognizable claims, the Johnsons' extended merits discussion of the contours of Montana's "made whole" rule does not assist them. (Appellants' Op. Br., pp. 10-18). None of the Johnsons' "made whole" cases involved a threshold justiciability challenge – they simply articulate Montana's "made whole" rule. *Ferguson v. Safeco Ins. Co. of America*, 2008 MT 109, 342 Mont. 380, 180 P.3d 1164 (considering class certification requirements under Mont. R. Civ. P. 23); *Swanson v. Hartford Ins. Co. of Midwest*, 2002 MT 81, 309 Mont. 269, 46 P.3d 583 (considering certified questions from the United States District Court regarding Montana public policy); *DeTienne Assocs. Ltd. P'ship v. Farmers Union Mutual Ins. Co.*, 266 Mont. 184, 879 P.2d 704 (1994) (considering appeal from judgment on merits of "made whole" claim); *Skauge v. Mtn. States Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 172 Mont. 521, 565 P.2d 628 (1977) (involving appeal of judgment following trial).

The Johnsons’ continued reliance on this authority illustrates how they have conflated the concepts of justiciability and cognizability throughout this case. The Johnsons previously relied on *Ferguson* and *Skauge* in arguing that the Court must either find a justiciable claim or “render unenforceable Montana’s longstanding ‘made whole’ rule.” (Petition for Writ of Supervisory Control, pp. 1, 10-11). That presented a false dichotomy, as State Farm explained in its response and this Court confirmed in entering the Order. (Response to Petition, pp. 12-13; Dkt. 40). Montana indisputably recognizes a “made whole” rule. The issue here is whether the Johnsons met their threshold burden of alleging facts supporting justiciable claims for violation of the rule. That required facts supporting that State Farm’s conduct caused the Johnsons harm by preventing the Johnsons from recovering all of their uncovered property losses from Ms. Vanmeter/GEICO. (Dkt. 40, p. 4). The District Court correctly found that the Johnsons had failed to meet their burden.

B. The Johnsons Cannot Avoid the Causation Requirement of Justiciability

Indicative of their inability to meet their threshold burden here, the Johnsons do not mention “causation” anywhere in their justiciability discussion. (*See* Appellants’ Op. Br., pp. 23-31). Ignoring causation does not avoid it.

There is no question that the applicable justiciability inquiry includes the requirement that State Farm’s alleged conduct cause the Johnsons harm, because this Court already recognized the requirement in the Order, which constitutes the law of

this case. (Dkt. 40, p. 4 & fn. 4) (finding no error in the District Court’s recognition of a “causation element” and dismissal of the Johnsons’ claims as non-justiciable where they failed to allege facts supporting that State Farm’s conduct “has already reduced, or necessarily will reduce, the amount of compensation that they will ultimately be entitled to recover for any element of damages” from Ms. Vanmeter/GEICO). The Order’s articulation of the applicable legal standard controls here. *Moody*, 286 Mont. at 93, 951 P.2d at 20; *Murphy Homes*, ¶ 56.

Larson, similarly recognized that “[s]tanding is a threshold requirement of justiciability applicable to all claims for relief as a matter of constitutional law and related prudential policy considerations.” *Larson*, ¶ 45. Further, the *Larson* Court added, standing requires that the “alleged wrong ... has in fact caused, or is likely to cause, the plaintiff to personally suffer specific, definite and direct harm” *Id.* at ¶ 46. The District Court below correctly relied on *Larson* in finding the Johnsons’ proposition that no “causation” element exists in Montana’s justiciability standard “unavailing” in dismissing the Johnsons’ “made whole” claims alleged in the FAC. (Dkt. 33, p. 14). This Court echoed the District Court’s reasoning, and acknowledged the causation requirement, in the Order. (Dkt. 40, p. 4 fn. 4).

Numerous other decisions from this Court, even more recent than the Order, are in accord. *350 Mont. v. State*, 2023 MT 87, ¶ 24, 412 Mont. 273, 529 P.3d 847 (District Court improperly adjudicated nonjusticiable question where plaintiffs

failed to show that the challenged preapproval process itself “will cause [their] electricity bills to rise”); *Hanson v. Town of Fort Peck*, 2023 MT 208, ¶ 22, 414 Mont. 1, 538 P.3d 404 (threshold justiciability requirement includes “assertion of a substantively cognizable claim for relief ‘based on an alleged wrong or illegality that has in fact caused, or is likely to cause, the [claimant] to personally suffer specific, definite, and direct harm to person, property, or exercise of right’”); *Kageco Orchards, LLC v. Mont. DOT*, 2023 MT 71, 412 Mont. 45, 54-55, 528 P.3d 1097 (suit challenging mailbox placement did not present a justiciable controversy where no evidence suggested actual injury “due to the location of the mailboxes”).

Ignoring causation entirely, the Johnsons instead argue that their “case passes the *Chipman* test” of justiciability. (Appellants’ Op. Br., p. 24) (citing *Chipman v. New Healthcare Corp.*, 2012 MT 242, ¶ 19, 366 Mont. 450, 288 P.3d 193). That the portion of *Chipman* on which the Johnsons rely did not discuss standing and causation among other threshold justiciability requirements does not mean that those requirements do not exist. This is particularly true because the very next section of *Chipman* acknowledged the standing requirement, which includes causation. *Chipman*, 2012 MT 242, ¶ 25 (“The central concepts of justiciability have been elaborated into more specific categories or doctrines—namely, advisory opinions, feigned and collusive cases, standing, ripeness, mootness, political questions, and administrative questions—each of which is governed by its own set of substantive

rules.”). More recent authority, including the Order, leaves no doubt regarding the causation requirement in Montana’s threshold justiciability standard. (Dkt. 40, p. 4 fn. 4); *Larson*, ¶¶ 45, 46; *350 Mont.*, ¶ 24; *Hanson*, ¶ 22.

C. The Johnsons Did Not Meet the Causation Requirement

Unable to meet the applicable causation standard here, i.e., allege facts supporting that State Farm’s conduct “has already reduced, or necessarily will reduce, the amount of compensation that they will ultimately be entitled to recover for any element of damages” from Ms. Vanmeter/GEICO, (Dkt. 40, p. 4), the Johnsons argue other forms of purported harm. According to the Johnsons, State Farm’s subrogation left them “with an impaired claim and a concrete loss of attorneys’ fees.” (Appellants’ Op. Br., p. 9). They made the same arguments below, which the District Court properly rejected.

1. The District Court Correctly Rejected the Johnsons’ “Impaired” Tort Claim Theory of Harm

The District Court correctly found that State Farm did not “impair” the Johnsons’ property damage claim against Ms. Vanmeter. The Johnsons named Ms. Vanmeter as a defendant in this case. They also recovered every item of uncovered property damage that they specifically alleged in their proposed SAC in their settlement with Ms. Vanmeter. (Dkt. 34.1, ¶ 20(A) (itemizing \$1,618 in uncovered property losses); Dkt. 42 (alleging that the Johnsons settled with Ms. Vanmeter for \$26,618, which constitutes the \$25,000 bodily injury limits under the GEICO policy

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